FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 7/26/2023 12:08 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/26/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 102216-6 Court of Appeals No. 39501-4-III

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

AKEEM MOORE,

Respondent.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable James Orlando, Judge

No. 20-1-00984-1

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

PAMELA B. LOGINSKY Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 18096 / OID #91121 930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-2913

I. INTRODUCTION

Review is warranted in this case because the court of appeals did not employ the well-established *Jackson v. Virginia*¹ standard for sufficiency of the evidence. Instead, the court created an idiosyncratic "more than substantial evidence" test cobbled together from Washington civil cases and an Arkansas case to reverse a child rape conviction. The court of appeals' unprecedented test will sow confusion among the lower courts and practitioners as to whether *Jackson v. Virginia* can be diluted in this fashion.

The new test conflicts with existing precedent and will deprive the public of the ability to hold offenders accountable by lowering the threshold for overturning a jury's verdict. Allowing this insidious test to take hold in Washington will deprive the most vulnerable victims — children, elderly, homeless, and impoverished — of justice because they are least likely to identify

¹ *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979).

the situs of the crime with the specificity the "more than substantial evidence" test demands. This petition for review should be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4).

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The State seeks review of the unpublished opinion of the court of appeals in *State of Washington v. Akeem Ali Moore*, No. 39501-4-III (June 27, 2023). A copy of the slip opinion may be found in the appendix.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The court of appeals reversed Akeem Moore's conviction on count one. The court did so by ignoring the *Jackson v. Virginia*² standard for sufficiency of the evidence. Although the court cited *Jackson v. Virginia*, it quickly departed from the traditional any rational trier of fact test. Instead, the court, relying on decisions from foreign jurisdictions and civil cases

² Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979).

adopted a "more than substantial evidence" test. This test makes the court the thirteenth juror and creates different classes of circumstantial evidence.

The existence of two different standards of review for insufficiency of the evidence claims—one adopted by this Court, and one adopted by the court of appeals--will create confusion for courts and practitioners. Is the court's idiosyncratic "more than substantial evidence" test in addition to the *Jackson* test or does it operate to the exclusion of the *Jackson* test? Does this unique substantial evidence test apply to half-time motions to dismiss for insufficiency of the evidence or only to post-verdict challenges? Does the test apply to all elements of the crime or only to the situs of the crime?

The sole justification for the new test is that "[l]egal logic demands . . . more convincing evidence in a criminal trial than in a civil suit." Slip op. at 18. The "more than substantial evidence"

³ Slip op. at 18.

test resulted in the reversal of a rape conviction that would be affirmed under *Jackson v. Virginia*, because the 5-year-old victim, who was 7 years old when she testified, could not distinguish between state and city names. The "more than substantial evidence" test is both incorrect and harmful and demands review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and/or (4).

IV. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The court of appeals adopted a new test for the sufficiency of the evidence regarding situs of the crime. This test differentiates between "valuable circumstantial evidence" and "inconsequential circumstantial evidence," in a manner that conflicts with the United States Supreme Court's *Jackson v*.

-

⁴ The opinion does not identify a term for the non-valuable circumstantial evidence. The phrase "inconsequential circumstantial evidence" was selected after reviewing a thesaurus. *See* Classic Thesaurus, *valuable>antonyms* (available at https://www.classicthesaurus.com/valuable/antonyms (last visited Jul. 21, 2023)). No disrespect to the lower court is intended by this word selection.

Virginia test that was adopted in Washington in 1980.⁵ This test is also inconsistent with Washington's repudiation in 1975⁶ of the requirement that circumstantial evidence will only be credited when it is inconsistent with innocence. Should the "more than substantial evidence" test be rejected by this Court?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant Akeem Moore was convicted of two counts of first-degree rape of a child. CP 52-53. The court of appeals reversed count one, finding that insufficient evidence supported the jury's conclusion that the crime took place in the State of Washington. Slip op. at 1.

C.F. was seven at the time of trial, five at the time of the abuse. RP 471, 473, 516, 688, 727; CP 21, 41, 44, 48. She disclosed that her father Moore raped her in two locations—on

⁶ See State v. Gosby, 85 Wn.2d 758, 765-66, 539 P.2d 680 (1975); accord State v. Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2 99 (1980).

⁵ See State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220-21, 616 P.2d 628 (1980).

Moore's bed in a little house and in a Motel 6. *See, e.g.*, RP 478, 482-485, 486, 764; Ex. 1 at 2:04 – 2:08, 2:24-26; 2:33:14. The court of appeals is satisfied that the Motel 6 was in Washington. Slip. Op. at 1, 22.⁷ It is not satisfied that the little house was in Washington. Slip. Op. at 1, 20.

C.F. described that the little house was the only house that she had lived in with her father, and it was in the same area as the Motel 6. RP 490; Ex. 1 at 2:33:16. Only two addresses, both of which are in Pierce County, Washington, meet this description -- her paternal grandmother's stand-alone house (RP 533, 655) and her maternal grandmother's Springfield townhome apartment which C.F. described as being a "mansion house." RP 532, 598.

The opinion misapprehends the jurisdictional element the State was required to prove—that the crime occurred in "the

⁷ C.F. identified two Pierce County Motel 6's as the place where the second rape occurred, and there was no evidence that C.F. stayed at a Motel 6 in Oregon. RP 529, 557-59.

State of Washington" rather than in a particular house in Washington. The opinion misapprehends which Pierce County house was proven to be the location of the rape. Slip. Op. at 20 (misperceiving that the rape took place in the maternal grandmother's apartment). C.F. described the rape as occurring in Moore's bedroom. RP 483. Moore only had a bedroom at his mother's home. RP 483. The State asserted, based on the testimony and exhibits, that count one took place in the paternal grandmother's stand-alone home. Br. of Resp. at 16-17.

Although the opinion acknowledged that "[a] finder of fact could conclude that Akeem Moore gained access to [C.F.] at his mother's residence in Tacoma and that the residence was an 'old house,'" it reversed the conviction on count 1 because "[t]he State never argued during trial that one of the rapes occurred at [his] mother's residence." Slip op. at 21. But the jury was

_

⁸ CP 44.

⁹ See also Slip op. at 22 (claiming that "the State argues one of the rapes must have occurred in Springbrook Apartments.").

instructed to base its verdict solely on the testimony it heard from the witnesses and the exhibits admitted during trial—not the comments or arguments of the attorneys. CP 33, 34.

The opinion also reversed count one because it had unanswered questions: "we do not know if [C.F.] was taken to the paternal grandmother's house before she disclosed rape to [her cousin K.C.]."¹⁰ Slip op. at 21. This is not the opinion's only reference to the appellate court judges' own unanswered questions. *See* Slip op. at 4, 5, 19, 20 ("We do not know").

Throughout the opinion, the panel distinguishes between "[v]aluable circumstantial evidence" and its opposite. Slip op. at 22. The opinion classifies as "inconsequential circumstantial evidence" uncorroborated evidence,¹¹ evidence supported by

¹⁰ The State appreciates the court of appeals' use of pseudonyms for both C.F. and her brother. The opinion, however, utilizes other family member's full names, including that of C.F.'s minor cousin. Because the names contained in the opinion enable a reader to easily identify C.F., the State will use initials and/or refer to other family members based upon their relationship to C.F.

¹¹ See, e.g., Slip op. at 3 ("No one testified that Akeem Moore

inconsistent or conflicting testimony,¹² that it believes may also be consistent with innocence, and events it believes unlikely based on its identification of biases. Slip op. at 20 ("This court should not rely on its own inferences from the evidence, but we observe that the grandmother disliked Moore and may not have permitted Moore inside her residences.").

Because any rational trier of fact could find that the little house rape occurred in Washington based upon (1) C.F.'s testimony that the rape occurred in Tacoma in a little house that was close to the Motel 6¹³ and (2) C.F.'s aunt's testimony that her daughter (C.F.'s cousin K.C.) asked her why she let Moore

stayed at the Springbrook Lane Apartments, let alone that he entered the grandmother's apartment."), 13 ("[C.F.'s] mother, ..., did not testify at the trial."), 20 ("More importantly, no testimony suggested that Akeem Moore had contact with [C.F] at Springbrook apartments.").

¹²See, e.g., Slip op. at 20 (noting that C.F. testified that the old house rape occurred in Oregon and in Washington); 21 (noting C.F.'s brother's inconsistent testimony); 22 (noting conflicting evidence that C.F. disclosed she was raped prior to C.F. leaving for Oregon).

¹³ RP 490, 501.

take C.F. to Oregon after he had touched C.F. inappropriately,¹⁴ the State files this timely petition for review. The State seeks the repudiation of the opinion's pernicious "more than substantial evidence" ¹⁵ test, and the reinstatement of count one.

VI. ARGUMENT

Declaring that "the State should present more than substantial evidence supporting all elements of the crime in order to sustain a guilty verdict," slip op. at 18, and accepting Moore's contention that insufficient evidence supports that the little house rape occurred in Washington because the circumstantial evidence was equally consistent with the rape occurring in Oregon, ¹⁶ the court of appeals turned its back on established Washington law. Instead, the court, seeking a test under which

¹⁵ Slip op. at 18.

¹⁴ RP 602-03.

¹⁶ See Brief of Appellant at 26-28 (relying on State v. Vasquez, 178 Wn.2d 1, 7, 309 P.3d 318 (2013)).

it could reverse a verdict it disagreed with, turned to our sister state of Arkansas.

If the Arkansas standard of review for sufficiency of the evidence is to be applied in this state, this Court should make that determination. If the Arkansas standard of review for sufficiency of the evidence is to be the law in this state, it needs to be applied to all cases and all courts —not just those in Division III. Review is proper in this case because the instant opinion conflicts with opinions issued by both this Court and the court of appeals, and the question presented involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (3).

A. The United States Supreme Court's Jackson v. Virginia Test for Sufficiency of the Evidence

Jackson v. Virginia was the first case in which the United
States Supreme Court considered the question of what standard
a reviewing court should apply to ensure that the due process

standard recognized in *Winship*¹⁷ that requires proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every element of the crime was met. *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. at 313-14. The Court noted that the critical inquiry on review was not satisfied by mere proof that the jury was properly instructed. *Id.* at 318. Nor did the inquiry demand that a reviewing court, itself, believe that the evidence at the trial established guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* at 318-19. "Instead, the relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Id.* at 319.

The Court noted that:

This familiar standard gives full play to the responsibility of the trier of fact fairly to resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts. Once a defendant has been found guilty of the crime charged, the factfinder's role as weigher of the evidence is preserved through a legal conclusion that upon judicial review all of the

¹⁷ *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970).

evidence is to be considered in the light most favorable to the prosecution. The criterion thus impinges upon "jury" discretion only to the extent necessary to guarantee the fundamental protection of due process of law.

Jackson, 443 U.S. at 319 (footnotes omitted).

The Court cautioned that the adopted standard "does not permit a court to make its own subjective determination of guilt or innocence." *Jackson*, 443 U.S. at 319 n. 13. The adopted standard does not require the prosecution to rule out every hypothesis except that of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* at 326. The adopted standard does require a court to defer to the trier of fact's resolution of conflicting inferences. *Id.* at 326.

B. This Court's Replacement of Washington's Prior Substantial Evidence Test With the Jackson v. Virginia Test

Prior to *Jackson v. Virginia*, Washington applied a "substantial evidence" test to insufficiency of the evidence challenges. *See, e.g., State v. Randecker*, 79 Wn.2d 512, 487 P.2d 1295 (1971). This test, like the "any rational trier of fact" test adopted by the United States Supreme Court did not require

the reviewing court to be satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty as charged. *Id.*, 79 Wn.2d at 517-18 ("The fact that a trial or appellate court may conclude the evidence is not convincing, or may find the evidence hard to reconcile in some of its aspects, or may think some evidence appears to refute or negative guilt, or to cast doubt thereon, does not justify the court's setting aside the jury's verdict."). This test differed from the *Jackson v. Virginia* test in that it only presented a question of law. *State v. Reynolds*, 51 Wn.2d 830, 834, 322 P.2d 356 (1958).

In State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980), this Court repudiated Washington's old substantial evidence test and adopted the Jackson v. Virginia test. 94 Wn.2d at 220-21. This Court noted that the "any rational trier of fact" test "impinges upon a jury's discretion only to the extent necessary to protect the constitutional standard of reasonable doubt." Id. at 221. This Court has rejected all calls to dilute, modify, or alter the Jackson v. Virginia sufficiency of the evidence test. See, e.g., State v.

Rich, 184 Wn.2d 897, 908-09, 365 P.3d 746 (2016) (rejecting requirement that the State must establish facts that are not elements of the crime; rejecting a piecemeal review of evidence in favor of a totality of the evidence analysis); State v. Berg, 181 Wn.2d 857, 872, 337 P.3d 310 (2014) (refusing to adopt an "incidental" to another crime sufficiency of the evidence test). This Court has also scrupulously guarded against reviewing courts becoming, in essence, a thirteenth juror. See generally State v. Williams, 96 Wn.2d 215, 221, 227, 634 P.2d 868 (1981).

C. Washington's Rejection of the "Multiple Hypothesis" Doctrine When Applying the *Jackson v. Virginia* Test to Circumstantial Evidence

The same year *Green* was decided, this Court held in *State* v. *Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980), that circumstantial and direct evidence are to be considered equally reliable by the reviewing court in determining the sufficiency of the evidence. The Court supported its decision with a citation to *State v. Gosby*, 85 Wn.2d 758, 539 P.2d 680 (1975).

In *Gosby*, this Court discussed the traditional multiple hypothesis jury instruction. This instruction was provided to a jury when the State's case rested entirely upon circumstantial evidence. *Id.* 85 Wn.2d at 765. The instruction informed the jury that

the circumstances proved by the State must not only be consistent with each other and consistent with the hypothesis that the accused is guilty, but also must be inconsistent with any reasonable hypothesis or theory which would establish, or tend to establish, his innocence.

Gosby, 85 Wn.2d at 764.

The multiple hypothesis circumstantial evidence instruction was supported by an assumption that circumstantial evidence is inherently suspicious and less trustworthy than is direct evidence. *Gosby*, at 765-66. It was assumed that the multiple-hypothesis instruction was desirable to guard against an improper reliance and use by the jury of tenuous circumstantial evidence. *Id*.

Deciding that circumstantial evidence can be more trustworthy and probative of particular facts in some cases and that no generalization realistically can be made that one class of evidence is per se more reliable than the other, this Court overruled its prior cases that mandated the use of a multiple-hypothesis instruction. *Gosby*, 85 Wn.2d at 767. This Court determined that instructing the jury adequately on reasonable doubt was sufficient. *Id.* at 768.

D. Division III Readopts the Repudiated "Multiple Hypothesis" Doctrine

The *Moore* court relied on an earlier opinion that improperly readopted the multiple hypothesis doctrine. An appellate court, however, lacks the power to overrule, revise, or abrogate one of this Court's opinions. *State v. Gore*, 101 Wn.2d 481, 487, 681 P.2d 227 (1984); *Kunath v. City of Seattle*, 10 Wn. App. 2d 205, 211, 444 P.3d 1235 (2019). Nonetheless, this is

exactly what Division III did *sub silento* in *State v. Jameison*, 4 Wash. App. 2d 184, 421 P.3d 463, 472 (2018). 18

Deciding that "Washington law, if not the federal constitution, demands that inferences in the criminal setting be based only on likelihood, not possibility," *id.* at 200, Division III reinstated the multiple-hypothesis doctrine and extended it to both direct and circumstantial evidence. Relying on civil cases and foreign authority, ¹⁹ Division III held that a conviction would be based on speculation and conjuncture, rather than reasonable inferences, when the evidence is consistent with innocence in

¹⁸ A copy of *Jameison* may be found in the appendix.

¹⁹ Division III justified its reliance on civil appeals because "the law should demand stricter controls on use of inferences in a criminal case." *Jameison*, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 198. It does not explain its reliance on opinions from Montana, New Jersey, and New Mexico. *Id.* The Washington civil cases cited in *Jameison* in support of its readoption of a multiple-hypothesis test all predate this Court's *Delmarter* decision and all, but one, predates *Gosby. See Jameison*, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 197-198 (citing *Fannin v. Roe*, 62 Wn.2d 239, 242, 382 P.2d 264 (1963), *Brucker v. Matsen*, 18 Wn.2d 375, 139 P.2d 276 (1943), and *Gardner v. Seymour*, 27 Wn.2d 802, 180 P.2d 564 (1947).

addition to guilt. *Jameison*, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 197-198. Lacking undisputed evidence of guilt and possessing unanswered questions, Division III affirmed the summary dismissal of homicide charges. *Id.* at 187, 200, 202-03, 211.

Possibly in the hopes that the *Jameison's* multiple-hypothesis inference test would be limited to its context—a pretrial *Knapstad*²⁰ motion—the State did not seek further review. Unfortunately, Division III has now, in this case, extended *Jamieson's* test to a post-verdict sufficiency of the evidence challenge. Relying on *Jamieson*, civil cases,²¹ and opinions from Arkansas and North Carolina, Division III adopts a "more than substantial evidence" standard of review that empowers a reviewing court to reverse a verdict or render a directed verdict

_

²⁰ State v. Knapstad, 107 Wn.2d 346, 729 P.2d 48 (1986).

The civil cases relied on in the slip opinion, once again, all predate this Court's *Delmarter* decision, and one predates *Gosby*. See Slip op. at 17-18 (citing *Gardner v. Seymour*, 27 Wn.2d 802, 180 P.2d 564 (1947), *Levy v. North American Co. for Life & Health Insurance*, 90 Wn.2d 846, 586 P.2d 845 (1978), and *Hojem v. Kelly*, 93 Wn.2d 143, 606 P.2d 275 (1980)).

whenever the court has unanswered questions or believes the evidence does not eliminate every possibility of innocence.

The new "more than substantial evidence" standard of review conflicts with *Jackson v. Virginia*, *Green*, *Delmarter*, *Gosby*, and a legion of other Washington appellate court cases.²² Division III's adoption of its new standard is not accompanied by a showing that the existing Washington standard is both incorrect and harmful.²³ The only justification Division III offers for adopting the Arkansas standard of review is its belief that "[l]egal logic demands . . . more convincing evidence in a criminal trial than in a civil suit." Slip op. at 18. This offhand

_

²² See, e.g., State v. Zunker, 112 Wn. App. 130, 135, 48 P.3d 344 (Div. III 2002) (acknowledging the reasonable hypothesis theory is no longer the law in Washington); State v. Gerard, 36 Wn. App. 7, 10, 671 P.2d 286 (Div. I 1983) (acknowledging that the multiple hypothesis theory is inapplicable to a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence).

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