FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/24/2023 1:07 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

#### SUPREME COURT NO. 102216-6

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

#### AKEEM MOORE,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable James Orlando, Judge

ANSWER TO STATE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

ERIN MOODY
Attorney for Respondent
NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC
The Denny Building
2200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1250
Seattle, Washington 98121
206-623-2373

### **

#### B. ISSUE PRESENTED

A Pierce County jury convicted Akeem Moore of two counts of rape of a child. The alleged victim was his daughter, C.F. Mr. Moore has always maintained his complete innocence, but in his direct appeal he raised a more limited argument: that

the evidence was insufficient to prove that either rape occurred in Washington State.

The Court of Appeals agreed with respect to Count 1 and disagreed with respect to Count 2. Does this decision warrant this Court's review under RAP 13.4(2)(b)? (No. The Court of Appeals applied <u>Jackson v. Virginia</u>, 443 U.S. at 319. The State proposes to replace <u>Jackson</u>'s rule with one that permits convictions based on speculation. Even if that were a good idea, this Court has no power to approve it.)

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts are detailed in Mr. Moore's opening and reply briefs to the Court of Appeals. It was undisputed at trial that C.F. lived in Washington State, at the Springbrook Lane townhomes, for the first three to four months of the charging window. See Br. of App. at 3-4 (citing RP 512-15, 541, 598-99). It was also undisputed that C.F. lived in Oregon, with Mr. Moore, her mother, and her brother, for about one month between April and

May of 2019; that she then lived in Arkansas with her mother, grandmother, brother, and several other relatives until September of 2019; and that she then returned to Washington where she stayed periodically in hotels and other places when Mr. Moore was also in the area. <u>See</u> Br. of App. at 4-6 (RP 518-28, 547, 601).

While C.F. was living with her grandmother in Arkansas, she stated, "My daddy put his pee-pee in my pee-pee." <u>See Br.</u> of App. at 5 (quoting RP 523). In October of 2019, CF. and her brother went to live with their grandmother again, in Pierce County, and C.F. made the same statement. <u>See Br. of App. at 6-7 (citing RP 527-29, 605)</u>. She said it happened at an unspecified Motel 6. See Br. of App. at 7 (citing RP 557-59).

After C.F. made the October statement, the grandmother took her to Mary Bridge Children's Hospital, where she told a forensic child interviewer that Mr. Moore had put his pee-pee in her pee-pee two times, at an old house and a hotel. See Br. of

App. at 7-8 (citing RP 725, 758, 677; Ex. 1-A at 2:04:01 to 2:04:22, 2:25:56 to 2:26:21).

The forensic interview yielded overwhelming evidence that the "old house" C.F. recalled was in Oregon. <u>See</u> Br. of App. at 8-9, 28-32. Nevertheless, the Pierce County Prosecutor charged Mr. Moore with two counts of child rape, allegedly occurring in Washington between January and October of 2019. CP 3-4, 21-22; RP 611-12.

In the trial court, the State argued that Count 1 took place at the Springbrook Lane townhomes, C.F.'s maternal grandmother's house, before the family left Washington State. RP 773-74, 790-92. It advanced this argument repeatedly, to both the trial court and the jury, even though *no* evidence, circumstantial or direct, placed Mr. Moore at this house at any time. See Br. of App. at 20-24, 28-31.

On appeal, the State apparently realized that it could not advance this theory in good faith, and it adopted a new one: now,

it contended Mr. Moore committed the rape at his mother's home, before the family left Washington State. <u>See</u> Reply Br. at 3-7 (citing Resp. at 16-17). But no evidence, direct or circumstantial, placed C.F. at this home during this time frame, so the evidence was also insufficient to sustain this new theory. Id.

In fact, no evidence showed that any rape, at all, occurred before the family left Washington State. See Br. of App. at 31-23 (citing RP 157-58, 460, 497-98, 588-92, 595-96, 602-03, 790-92).

Division Three recognized this, in an unpublished decision applying the indisputable rule that speculation cannot sustain a criminal conviction. That Court "view[ed] the evidence in the light most favorable to . . . [and] dr[e]w all reasonable inferences in favor of the State." Op. at 16 (quoting State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992)). It "defer[red] to the factfinder on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of

witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence." Op. at 16 (quoting State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874-75, 83 P.3d 970 (2004)).

Contrary to the State's petition for review, Division Three "d[id] *not* treat circumstantial evidence as less reliable than direct evidence." Op. at 17 (quoting State v. Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980)) (emphasis added); compare with State's Pet. at 15-17. And it recognized that "[c]ontradictions and discrepancies in the evidence in a criminal prosecution do not warrant dismissal of the case." Op. at 17-18 (citing State v. Whitman, 179 N.C. App. 657, 635 S.E.2d 906, 914 (2006)).

Applying these principles, Division Three found that any rational jury would have to speculate to conclude that Count 1 occurred in Washington. But it rejected Mr. Moore's sufficiency challenge to Count 2.

# D. <u>REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE</u> <u>STATE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW</u>

The State contends Division Three broke radical new ground in an unpublished opinion, importing a heightened sufficiency standard from Arkansas and "readopt[ing]" an evidentiary doctrine this Court rejected in 1980. Pet. at 11, 15-17. The State's overarching theory is unclear: it contends either that Division Three crafted a new rule for "evidence regarding situs of the crime," or that Division Three applied a broader radical rule it adopted five years ago in State v. Jamieson, 4 Wn. App. 2d 184, 198-99, 421 P.3d 463 (2018). Compare Pet. at 4 with Pet. at 17-18. In either case, the State's arguments are materially misleading.

In <u>State v. Vasquez</u>, 178 Wn.2d 1, 6, 309 P.3d 318 (2013), this Court cited <u>Jackson</u>, 443 U.S. at 319, for the rule that "inferences based on circumstantial evidence must be reasonable and cannot be based on speculation." In <u>State v. Rich</u>, it cited

<u>Jackson</u> for the rule that "[a] "modicum" of evidence does not meet this standard." <u>Rich</u>, 184 Wn.2d 897, 903, 365 P.3d 746 (2016) (quoting <u>Jackson</u>, 443 U.S. at 320).

In <u>Jamieson</u>, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 198-99, Division Three reached the conservative and sensible conclusion that an inference is "reasonable," for purposes of due process, when it "likely, but not necessarily," follows from the evidence. In other words, if the evidence is equally consistent with guilt or innocence, and the jury must therefore speculate to break the tie, it does not prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Id</u>.

For these inarguable principles, Division Three relied on State v. Aten, 130 Wn.2d 640, 927 P.2d 210 (1996); State v.

<sup>1</sup> <u>Aten</u> held that "the *corpus delicti* is *not* established when independent evidence supports reasonable and logical inferences of both criminal agency and noncriminal cause." 130 Wn.2d at 660 (emphasis in original). In other words, evidence consistent with a reasonable hypothesis of innocence is not proof of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. at 660-62.

<u>Hanna</u>, 123 Wn.2d 704, 710, 871 P.2d 135 (1994);<sup>2</sup> and three civil cases, noting that the evidentiary standard for a criminal conviction must be at least as stringent as for a civil judgment. <u>Jamieson</u>, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 199-200.

The State now attempts to cast both <u>Jamieson</u> and the unpublished decision in Mr. Moore's appeal as radical departures from the <u>Jackson</u> standard. It does so by materially misrepresenting the case law it discusses.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> <u>Hanna</u> observed that, "[w]hen an inference is only *part* of the prosecution's proof supporting an element of the crime, due process requires the presumed fact to flow 'more likely than not' from proof of the basic fact." 123 Wn.2d at 710 (quoting <u>Ulster County v. Allen</u>, 442 U.S. 140, 165, 99 S. Ct. 2213, 60 L. Ed. 2d 777 (1979)) (emphasis added). It did not reach the question whether, where the inference was the *only* evidence supporting an element, "the more stringent reasonable-doubt standard may apply." <u>Id</u>. at 711.

# 1. Contrary to the State's petition, the <u>Jackson</u> sufficiency standard requires "more than substantial evidence."

The State correctly observes that <u>State v. Green</u>, 94 Wn.2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980), "repudiated Washington's old substantial evidence test" in favor of <u>Jackson</u>'s standard. Pet. at 14. But it obscures significance of this repudiation: that <u>Jackson</u> requires more than "substantial evidence." PRV at 13-15.

In fact, <u>Green</u> recognized that <u>Jackson</u>'s standard was "more rigorous" than the old "substantial evidence" test, and that the old test "would fail 'to supply a workable or even a predictable standard for determining whether the due process command of <u>Winship</u><sup>[3]</sup> has been honored." <u>Green</u>, 94 Wn.2d at 220-22 (quoting <u>Jackson</u>, 443 U.S. at 320). <u>Green</u> "rejected [the old] substantial evidence standard . . . because *it does not require* 

<sup>[3] &</sup>lt;u>In re Winship</u>, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970).

proof beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>Vasquez</u>, 178 Wn.2d at 6 (citing <u>Green</u>, 94 Wn.2d at 221-22) (emphasis added).

The State contends Division Three subverted <u>Green</u> and <u>Jackson</u> by applying a "more than substantial evidence" standard in Mr. Moore's appeal. Pet. at 20. This is exactly wrong. As explained, <u>Green</u> held that <u>Jackson</u> demands "more than [the old] substantial evidence [standard]." Pet. at 20; <u>see Green</u>, 94 Wn.2d at 221-22. There is no reason to grant review just so this Court can say that again.

2. Contrary to the State's petition, Division Three neither rehabilitated the "multiple hypothesis doctrine" nor imported case law from Arkansas.

The State contends that Division Three has "readopted the multiple hypothesis doctrine" rejected in <u>State v. Gosby</u>, 85 Wn.2d 758, 539 P.2d 680 (1974) and <u>State v. Delmarter</u>, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980), by importing a sufficiency standard from Arkansas. Pet. at 15-25. This is incorrect.

In <u>Gosby</u>, this Court disapproved an old jury instruction that implied circumstantial evidence was inherently less reliable than direct evidence. 85 Wn.2d at 764-68. Contrary to the State's argument in the petition for review, however, <u>Gosby</u> did not hold that evidence equally consistent with guilt and innocence might nevertheless be proof of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Such a holding would be absurd and irreconcilable with the <u>Jackson</u> standard. Instead, <u>Gosby</u> simply held that the traditional reasonable doubt instruction was sufficient, by itself, to guard against an unsupported verdict. 85 Wn.2d at 764-68.

The same is true of <u>Delmarter</u>, in which this Court held that an element of the charged offense "may be inferred . . . where it is plainly indicated as a matter of logical *probability*." 94 Wn.2d at 638 (emphasis added).

Both <u>Gosby</u> and <u>Delmarter</u> are entirely consistent with Division Three's decision in Mr. Moore's appeal. <u>E.g.</u>, Op. at 17

("[i]n analyzing the sufficiency of the evidence, this court does not treat circumstantial evidence as less reliable than direct evidence") (citing <u>Delmarter</u>, 94 Wn.2d at 638); <u>id</u>. ("when an inference supports an element of the crime, due process requires the presumed fact to flow more likely than not from proof of the basic fact") (citing <u>Hanna</u>, 123 Wn.2d at 710; <u>Jamieson</u>, 4 Wn. App. at 200). But the State seeks to obscure this consistency by claiming Division Three imported an inconsistent sufficiency standard from Arkansas. Pet. at 18-24.

This is misleading for two reasons.

First, Division Three did not import any foreign law. The Court of Appeals cited an Arkansas decision for rule that "[s]ubstantial evidence is evidence that is of sufficient force and character that it will, with reasonable certainty, compel a conclusion one way or the other *without resorting to speculation or conjecture*." Op. at 18 (citing Booth v. State, 26 Ark. App. 115, 761 S.W.2d 607, 608 (1989)). It might just as well have

cited <u>Vasquez</u>, 178 Wn.2d at 6; <u>Delmarter</u>, 94 Wn.2d at 638; <u>Aten</u>, 130 Wn.2d at 660-62; or <u>Hanna</u>, 123 Wn.2d at 710-11, for this principle. The State does not explain what *less* rigorous standard would be consistent with due process.

Second, while Arkansas calls its state constitutional sufficiency standard by another name, it is substantively indistinguishable from the Jackson standard. Compare Jones v. State, 269 Ark. 119, 120, 598 S.W.2d 748 (1980) (state "[s]ubstantial evidence . . . test is not satisfied by evidence which merely creates a suspicion or which amounts to no more than a scintilla or which gives equal force to inconsistent inferences") (internal quotations omitted) with Jackson, 443 U.S. at 320 ("a mere modicum of evidence may satisfy a "no evidence" standard . . . ' Any evidence that is relevant—that has any tendency to make the existence of an element of a crime slightly more probable than it would be without the evidence . . . could be deemed a 'mere modicum.' But it could not seriously be argued that such a 'modicum' of evidence could by itself rationally support a conviction beyond a reasonable doubt."); see Williams v. State, 351 Ark. 215, 91 S.W.3d 54, 61 (2002) ("[t]his court actually held in <u>Jones</u> that the substantial-evidence standard is consistent with the rational fact-finder standard enunciated in <u>Jackson</u> . . . [t]he substantial-evidence standard, while not explicitly reciting the standard from <u>Jackson</u> word-for-word, requires that evidence supporting a conviction must compel reasonable minds to a conclusion . . . and, thereby, ensures that the evidence was convincing to a point that any rational fact-finder *could have* found guilty beyond a reasonable doubt") (emphasis added).

Just like Washington appellate courts, Arkansas appellate courts overturn jury verdicts only when they necessarily depend on speculation—and this is true even though Arkansas also still employs the multiple hypothesis jury instruction. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Kellenworth v. State</u>, 614 S.W.3d 804, 807 (Ark. 2021) ("[t]he

question whether circumstantial evidence excludes every hypothesis consistent with innocence is for the jury to decide") Hartman v. State, 454 S.W.3d 721, 725 (Ark. 2015) ("[w]hether circumstantial evidence excludes every other reasonable hypothesis [besides guilt] is usually a question for the jury," and jury's answer will be disturbed only if it necessarily rests on speculation); King v. State, 266 S.W.3d 205, 207 (Ark. 2007) ("circumstantial evidence must be consistent with guilt and inconsistent with any other reasonable conclusion. That rule, ... . is usually for the jury . . ., the test in [the appellate] court being the requirement of substantial evidence. . . . It is only when circumstantial evidence leaves the jury, in determining guilt, solely to speculation and conjecture, that we hold it is insufficient as a matter of law.") (Quoting Brown v. State, 258 Ark. 360, 361, 524 S.W.2d 616, 616-17 (1975)) (Emphasis added.).

The State's musings about "substantial evidence" and "multiple hypotheses" are semantic red herrings. Under <u>Jackson</u>, due process demands the appellate court reverse a conviction resting on speculation. Even if this Court wanted to adopt a different rule (and it presumably does not), the federal constitution prohibits it. There is no basis for review.

#### E. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals properly applied the <u>Jackson</u> standard, which prohibits criminal convictions based on speculation. That unpublished analysis does not warrant review. If this Court nevertheless grants review, it should also review the Court of Appeals' sufficiency holding as to Count 2.

I certify that this document was prepared using word processing software and contains 2,646 words excluding the parts exempted by RAP 18.17.